I. INTRODUCTION 

Mr. Pleasant was admitted for a routine knee operation at a 

regional surgical facility in March of 2010. CP 11-12. While in the 

recovery room, he suffered a massive stroke, which caused 

extensive brain damage. CP 12:2-3. Mr. Pleasant is permanently 

disabled as a result of the stroke. Id. Following the stroke, Mr. 

Pleasant was rushed to the Swedish Hospital. CP 12:4-5. Mr. 

Pleasant was later readmitted on a different floor which provided in

patient rehabilitative services. CP 12:7-9. However, while on that 

floor, he also received other reasonable and necessary medical 

treatments. CP 125-126. There is no dispute that the treatment 

Mr. Pleasant received from the Swedish Hospital was reasonable 

and medically necessary. 

Mr. Pleasant was insured pursuant to the terms and 

conditions of an insurance policy issued by Regence Blue Shield. 

At issue in this case is Regence's denial of benefits based upon 

exclusions and limitations in the policy of insurance. CP 1-4. 

Regence denied coverage for a mechanical embolectomy 

procedure during Mr. Pleasant's initial emergency room stay, 

claiming the procedure was "investigational." CP 604-606. 

Regence also denied coverage for reasonable and necessary 
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medical expenses incurred by Mr. Pleasant, based upon his 

geographical location within the Swedish Hospital. CP 11-20. 

The Pleasants brought suit against Regence Blue Shield 

(URegence"), asserting that Regence wrongfully denied benefits to 

the Pleasants by limiting coverage under the inpatient rehabilitative 

services provision despite the fact that Mr. Pleasant received 

treatment for other non-rehabilitative services, and that Regence 

breached the contract by improperly denying the Pleasant's claims 

for the mechanical embolectomy procedure. CP 1-4. 

On 01/13/12, the trial court entered an Order denying the 

Pleasants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. Appendix A. 

The Court entered Summary Judgment in favor of Regence on the 

same issue on 04/10/12. 1 Appendix G. 

Thereafter, the parties cross-moved for summary judgment 

on Regence's denial of the mechanical embolectomy procedure. Id. 

In its 07/13/12 Order, the trial court granted Regence's 

Motion for Summary Judgment finding that: (1) this matter is a 

1 Following the trial court's January 13, 2012 Order, Regence moved for 
Summary Judgment on the exact same issue which was before the trial court on 
January 13, 2012. CP 1712-1726. The trial court granted partial summary 
judgment on Defendants' Summary Judgment Motion on April 10, 2012. See, 
Appendix G. 
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contract issue; (2) Regence's denial of coverage for the Pleasants' 

mechanical embolectomy claims based upon its investigational 

status was proper based upon Regence's medical policy on 

mechanical embolectomy procedures; and (3) Regence is entitled 

to make the determination of a medical procedure's 

. "investigational" status without the possibility of review by the Court 

or trier of fact. RP 23:4-25, 24:5-11,24:14-25 and 25:1-4; see also, 

CP 1519-1520; Appendix B. 

On August 3, 2012, the trial court denied Plaintiffs' motion for 

reconsideration. CP 1655; Appendix C. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The trial court erred in entering its 01/13/12 Order 
denying plaintiffs' motion for partial summary 
judgment and granting Regence's Motion for 
Summary Judgment on the issue of rehabilitative 
services filed 04/10/12. See, CP 602-603, 697 
and 1904-1905; Appendix A; Appendix G; and 
footnote 1. 

B. The trial court erred in granting Regence's motion 
for summary judgment and denying the Plaintiff's 
cross-motion on 07/13/12, regard ing the 
mechanical embolectomy. CP 1519-1520; 
Appendix B. 

C. The trial court erred in denying plaintiffs' motion 
for reconsideration. CP 1655; Appendix C. 
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III. ISSUES RELATED TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Did the Court err in concluding that Mr. Pleasant's 
geographical location within the hospital dictated 
whether or not he was entitled to coverage as 
opposed to examining the procedures provided to 
determine whether or not coverage was available? 
(Assignment of Error A). 

B. In the alternative, did the trial court err when it did not 
find that the language of the insurance policy is void 
as against public policy? (Assignment of Error A). 

C. Did the trial court err in finding that Regence's denial 
of coverage for the Pleasants' mechanical 
embolectomy when it failed to present evidence 
creating a genuine issue of material fact? 
(Assignment of Error B). 

D. Did the Court err in allowing Regence to offer 
testimony of an expert witness not disclosure until 
after the discovery cutoff, after the deadlines for 
disclosing primary and expert witnesses, and over the 
objections the Pleasants? (Assignment of Error B). 

E. Did the trial court err in finding that Regence did not 
violate the Consumer Protect Act or act in bad faith 
because Regence failed to provide the basis of its 
denial as required under WAC 284-30, et.seq.? 
(Assignment of Error B). 

F. Did the trial court err in denying Plaintiffs' Motion for 
Reconsideration? (Assignment of Error C). 

G. Are the Pleasants entitled to an award of reasonable 
attorney fees and expenses pursuant to Olympic 
Steamship v. Centennial Insurance, 117 Wn.2d 37, 
811 P.2d 673 (1991)? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Background Facts. 

This lawsuit arises out of Regence Blue Shield's denial of 

insurance benefits in excess of $100,000.00. CP 11. 

In March of 2010, Mr. Pleasant underwent a seemingly 

routine procedure to repair his damaged knee. CP 11-12. 

However, during the course of that procedure, Mr. Pleasant 

suffered a stroke which caused severe debilitating injuries. CP 

12:2-3. Currently, Mr. Pleasant has been deemed 100% disabled 

as a result of the stroke. Id. 

Following the stroke, Mr. Pleasant was rushed to Swedish 

Hospital where he received treatment. CP 12:4-5. Mr. Pleasant 

was discharged and admitted into a nursing facility following the 

initial emergency room treatment. CP 12:5-6. While at the nursing 

facility, Mr. Pleasant's treatment plan included specified care 

designed to increase his strength so that he could continue 

receiving treatment for his stroke injuries. CP 12:6-7. 

After approximately one month, Mr. Pleasant was readmitted 

to a different floor at the Swedish Medical Center. CP 12:7-9. Mr. 
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Pleasant was readmitted to a different floor in the exact same 

hospital in which he had received emergency care. Id. 

B. The Swedish Medical Center Is A Singular Hospital. 

The Swedish Medical Center operates under a singular 

hospital license issued by the State of Washington. CP 502-520. 

The treatment Mr. Pleasant received was at the same hospital, just 

on a different floor. CP 12. 

C. The Policy of Insurance. 

The policy of insurance is organized in such a way that it is 

broken down into various articles numbered as Articles 1-8. CP 

166. Rather than first setting forth the grant of coverage followed 

by the exclusions, the Regence Policy addresses what is excluded 

before addressing what is covered. Id. Nevertheless, it is the 

Pleasants' position that in order to understand the Regence Policy, 

it is necessary to first identify what is covered before analyzing 

what is excluded from coverage. 

in part: 

With this in mind, Article 8 of the policy of insurance provides 

ARTICLE 8 BENEFITS 

8.2 BENEFIT PROVISIONS. The Benefits of this Article 
for Medically Necessary services, will be provided at 
the payment levels specified in the Payment Schedule 
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in the Guide to Using Your Benefits, subject to all 
limitations, exclusions, and provisions of this Contract. 

8.5 COVERED BENEFITS. The Benefits described in 
this Article will be provided at the payment level 
specified in the Payment Schedule in the Guide to 
Using Your Benefits. All Benefits are subject to the 
preadmission approval provision described in this 
Article, and to all conditions and limitations stated in 
the Benefit sections below or elsewhere in this 
Contract, as determined by the Company. All services 
and supplies must be Medically Necessary as defined 
in Article 1, except as provided in this Article for 
preventive care services. 

8.6 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. The services of a 
provider who is not a facility that provides Inpatient 
services, will be provided for the diagnosis and 
treatment of illness, accidental injury, or physical 
disability including x-ray and laboratory, surgery, 
second opinions, injectable drugs for covered 
conditions in the office, home, Hospital, or skilled 
nursing facility, and for covered services for women's 
health to include gynecological care and general 
exams as medically appropriate and medically 
appropriate follow-up visits. 

8.7 HOSPITAL FACILITY. 

8.7.1 INPATIENT BENEFITS. When the Member is 
confined as an Inpatient, Benefits will be 
provided for services and supplies provided by 
a Hospital. Room and board is limited to the 
Hospital's average semiprivate room rate, 
except where a private room is determined to 
be Medically Necessary. 

See, CP 73-76. 

Article 1 of the Policy sets forth the pertinent definitions: 
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ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS 

1.12 HOSPITAL. An accredited general Hospital that is a 
provider covered under this Contract. 

1.13 INPATIENT. A person confined overnight in a 
Hospital or other facility as a regularly admitted bed 
patient to whom a charge for room and board is made 
in accordance with the Hospital's or facility's standard 
practice. 

1.14 INPATIENT REHABILITATION ADMISSION. An 
inpatient admission to a Company approved facility 
specifically for the purpose of receiving speech, 
physical, or occupational therapy in an inpatient 
setting. 

See, CP 34-36. 

The limitations and exclusions are found in Article 6. The 

policy provides in part: 

ARTICLE 6 LIMITATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS; WAITNG 
PERIODS 

6.1.11 Drugs, except as follows: 

a. Drugs will be provided for the 
Inpatient who is receiving the 
Benefits of this Contract for that 
confinement, unless otherwise 
excluded under this Contract. 

6.1.24 Services and supplies that are not Medically 
Necessary for treatment of an illness, injury, or 
physical disability, including routine physical and 
hearing exams and related x-ray and laboratory, 
except as specified in Article 8. 
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6.1.34 Treatment for rehabilitative care, including speech 
therapy, physical therapy, or occupational therapy, 
except as specified in the Home Health, Hospice, and 
Rehabilitation Benefits of Article 8. 

CP 64-67. 

D. Regence Denied Coverage of Mr. Pleasant's Non
Rehabilitative Care Based Upon His Geographic 
Location. 

Mr. Pleasant received treatment and prescribed medications 

at a "hospital" as defined by the policy of insurance. CP: 96-11 and 

141 :7-16. For example, Mr. Pleasant received medications called 

Enoxaparin2 and Latanoprose. CP 102 and 97, respectively. 

Additionally, Mr. Pleasant received numerous blood draws, 

laboratory tests, etc., for the purposes of monitoring his blood and 

recovery from the stroke. CP 106. He also received Visipaque 

injections which are radiographic contrast mediums used to 

enhance x-ray imaging. CP 103 and 115-116. In another instance, 

Mr. Pleasant received a CT scan. CP 106-108. The CT scan had 

nothing to do with rehabilitative care. Regence has denied the 

expenses associated with these medications, nearly 20 blood 

2 Enoxaparin is an anti-coagulant used to prevent and treat pulmonary 
embolisms (the effects of stroke). CP 113. 

3 Latanoprost is a topical ophthalmic solution used to reduce pressure inside the 
eye. CP 114. 
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draws and associated lab work of Mr. Pleasant's blood, as well Mr. 

Pleasant's claims for x-rays. CP 95-111. 

Despite the fact that Regence paid for these same types of 

medications and procedures during Mr. Pleasant's initial 

hospitalization, Regence has taken the position that Mr. Pleasant's 

geographic location within the hospital dictates whether or not he is 

entitled to insurancecoverage. CP 12:13-15 and CP 130:1-6. 

E. Regence Denied the Costs Associated with Mr. 
Pleasant's Mechanical Embolectomy Procedure. 

As noted above, Mr. Pleasant received a mechanical 

embolectoml in treatment for his stroke in order to restore the flow 

of blood to Mr. Pleasant's brain. CP 125-126,112-5; see also, CP 

605:18. 

The treatment was medically necessary following Mr. 

Pleasant's March 2010 stroke as determined by his treating 

medical providers: 

Mr. Pleasant received treatment while at 
the rehabilitation center. He received 
certain treatment which was medically 
necessary regardless of the setting in 
which he received the treatment. 

4 A mechanical embolectomy involves a mirco-catheter being placed in the blood 
vessel and being directed to the area of the blood clot. CP 605:10-17. At the end 
of the device, there is a helical coil which is used to grasp the obstruction, 
allowing for the obstruction to be pulled back out through the blood vessel, thus 
restoring blood flow to the area affected by the stroke. 1d. 
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Examples include medication, laboratory 
work, and a CT scan. Additionally, Mr. 
Pleasant underwent a procedure to 
remove and replace a blood filter. Again, 
these are treatments Mr. Pleasant 
received related to his stroke. The 
procedures, lab work and medicines 
were needed regardless of Mr. 
Pleasant's setting. In other words, Mr. 
Pleasant would have needed these 
treatments whether or not he had been 
admitted for in-patient rehabilitative 
services. 

CP 125-126: ~5 (emphasis added). 

Regence's denial of the mechanical embolectomy procedure 

was based, in part, upon a medical policy (which was identified 

after the close of discovery) which was drafted by a medical policy 

clinician. As identified by Regence, a medical policy clinician "is the 

person who performs the literature review and gathers materials 

and does initial critical appraisal of the evidence." CP 1549:2-5. 

Incredibly, a medical policy clinician is not a doctor but "either a 

nurse or has some other advanced training, like an MPH." CP 

1549:5-13. It is the medical policy clinician who conducts the 

research to draft an initial draft of the medical policy that is then 

reviewed by doctors. Id. This medical policy is not part of the policy 

of insurance. 

Regence's own reviewing neurosurgeon, Dr. Maurice 

Collada, strongly asserts that denial of a mechanical embolectomy 
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procedure is "unwise, inappropriate, indefensible." Dr. Collada 

states: 

Folks to suggest that a technique that 
reconstitutes the blood supply 
mechanically to areas of the brain 
compromised due to a blocked 
intracerebral vessel should not be done, 
or should not be funded is unwise, 
inappropriate, indefensible. The 
studies are already fairly strong. I 
presume you would not refuse payment 
in an effort to reconstitute the flow in an 
occluded carotid artery by way of an 
endarterectomy, and yet the double 
blinded studies in that area are also 
lacking. I think that this is like asking to 
get more convincing double blinded 
studies before you jump out of a 
crashing airplane with a parachute. I 
would urge a rethinking of this policy. 

CP 1564 (emphasis added). 

A year later, during another review, Dr. Collada again 

renewed his position, calling Regence's denial of mechanical 

embolectomy treatments "preposterous" and "unconscionable": 

I totally disagree with the decision to 
make this experimental, and not have 
this as an option in stroke management. 
I do think clear criteria, and timelines 
exist. I also understand why the double 
blind studies have been so difficult since 
it would be unconscionable to do a 
double blind study just as it would be 
unconscionable to do a double blind 
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study in the use of parachutes when 
jumping out of airplanes. Once you do 
have timelines, and criteria in place that 
you can study, and track, realizing 
reconstituting the cerebral blood flow is 
the goal, then it is preposterous to 
keep this outside of our armamentarium. 
Not having this option would hinder 
stroke management substantially, 
and be a disservice to your clients. 

CP 1565 (emphasis added). 

Regence denied the mechanical embolectomy procedure on 

an unexplained determination that the procedure was 

"investigational." CP 605:19 and CP 685-686. Astoundingly, 

Regence denied the mechanical embolectomy procedure, which 

was found to be medically necessary by Mr. Pleasant's provider, a 

medical doctor, based upon a medical policy drafted by a nurse - a 

policy which was subsequently deemed to be "unconscionable" by 

one of Regence's own internal reviewing experts. As a result of 

Regence's denial, the Pleasants have been forced to pay for these 

expenses out of pocket. CP 2:1J1.9 - 1.10. 

F. Procedural History. 

The Pleasants moved for Summary Judgment seeking a 

finding of coverage as a matter of law. CP 11-20. On January 13, 

2012, the trial court denied the Pleasants' Motion for Summary 

Judgment. CP 602-603; Appx. A. Thereafter, Regence moved for 

Summary Judgment on the same issue which was granted by the 
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trial court on April 10, 2012. CP 697; CP 169; CP 1712-1726; 

Appx. G; see also, footnote 1. The issue of Regence's denial of the 

mechanical embolectomy based upon its "investigational" status 

remained in dispute. CP 697:11-12. 

Pursuant to the case scheduling order, the deadline for 

identifying primary witnesses, which includes those witnesses with 

relevant expert knowledge, was February 21,2012. CP 1197 and 

1207. The deadline for disclosing additional witnesses was April 2, 

2012. CP 1207. 

Following the expiration of these deadlines, the Pleasants 

moved for Summary Judgment on the issue of the mechanical 

embolectomy. CP 604-610. The Pleasants argued that the burden 

of proof for establishing exclusionary provisions in the policy of 

insurance rested upon the insurer. CP 607-608. In response, 

Regence offered the Declaration of Richard Rainey, M.D. CP 789-

791 and 799-800. Dr. Rainey had never previously been identified 

as a witness, let alone a testifying expert. CP 1199: 1-16. 

Nevertheless, and over the objection of the Pleasants, the 

trial court accepted the Declaration of Dr. Rainey. RP 25:9-12. 

The trial court ruled that Regence had followed the "procedure" for 

determining that the mechanical embolectomy procedure was 

"investigational" but neglected to analyze whether or not the 

procedure was in fact investigational. RP 16: 17-21, 18:2-7,19:13-
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20, 23:4-23 and 24:20-25. The trial court summarily dismissed the 

remaining causes of action asserted by the Pleasants. RP 25:5-8. 

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY 

A. Summary Judgment is Reviewed De Novo. 

An appellate court reviewing a summary judgment order 

must engage in the same inquiry as the trial court. Sedwick v. 

Gwinn, 73 Wash.App. 879, 884, 873 P.2d 528, 531 (1994), 

referencing, Marincovich v. Tarabochia, 114 Wash.2d 271,274, 

787 P .2d 562 (1990). The appellate court reviews the facts and law 

with respect to summary judgment de novo. Mountain Park 

Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341,883 P.2d 

1383 (1994). 

To the extent that any aspect of the Superior Court's rulings 

on the Pleasants' Motion for Reconsideration is before this Court, 

the Court reviews those rulings for abuse of discretion. Byerly v. 

Madsen, 41 Wn. App. 495, 499,704 P.2d 1236 (1985). 

A trial court abuses its discretion when it exercises it in a 

manifestly unreasonable manner or bases it upon untenable 

grounds or reasons. Wagner Dev. v. Fidelity & Deposit, 95 Wn. 

App. 896,906,977 P.2d 639 (1999). 

B. The Pleasants Are Entitled To Coverage For All 
Reasonable And Necessary Medical Treatment. 
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As set forth above, benefits will be provided to an insured for 

all medically necessary services as set forth in Article 8 of the 

Regence Policy. See, Article 8.2 and 8.5. Additionally, the policy 

provides for coverage "for the diagnosis and treatment of illness, 

accidental injury ... x-rays ... laboratory work ... injectable 

drugs ... which are medically appropriate." See, Article 8.6. The 

policy also provides benefits to the insured when the insured is 

confined as an in-patient in a hospital. See, Article 8.7.1. The 

policy defines a hospital as an accredited general hospital that is a 

provider covered under this contract. See, Article 1.12. There is no 

question of fact but that the Swedish Medical Center is a hospital 

as defined by the policy of insurance. CP 502-520. 

Pursuant to the plain language of the policy, Mr. Pleasant is 

entitled to coverage for all services provided at the hospital unless 

specifically excluded elsewhere. There is no dispute of fact but that 

the treatment Mr. Pleasant received was medically necessary and 

reasonable. Therefore, all treatment is presumed covered under 

this policy unless specifically excluded. 

C. Regence Bears the Burden of Proving Its Exclusions. 

For purposes of analyzing this de novo review, the burden of 

proof rests squarely on Regence in establishing its exclusions and 

limitations. 
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It is well established that the burden is on an insurer to prove 

that a claim is not covered because of an exclusionary provision in 

the policy. Brown v. Snohomish County Physicians, Corp., 120 

Wn.2d 747,758-59,845 P.2d 334 (1993), citing Burrier v. Mutual 

Life Ins. Co. of New York, 63 Wn.2d 266, 270, 387 P.2d 58 (1963); 

Pemco v. Rash, 48 Wn.App. 701,703,740 P.2d 370 (1987). 

Language in an insurance policy is ambiguous if it is 

fairly/reasonably susceptible to more than one common sense 

interpretation; such an ambiguity must be liberally construed in 

favor of benefiting the insured. Mutual of Enumclaw v. Cross, 103 

Wn.App. 52, 10 P.3d 440 (2000); Robinson v. PEMCO Insurance, 

71 Wn.App. 746,862 P.2d 614 (1993). 

In Washington State, any ambiguity in the health insurance 

policy must be read in favor of coverage. McCarty v. King County 

Medical Services Corp. 175 P.2d 653, 26 Wn.2d 660 (1946). 

Exclusionary clauses are to be construed narrowly. Cook v. 

Evanson, 920 P.2d 122383 Wn.App.149 (1996); McMahan and 

Baker Inc. v. Continental Casualty Company, 843 P .2d 1133 68 

Wn.App. 573. Exclusionary clauses are narrowly construed for the 

purpose of providing maximum coverage for an insured person. 

George v. Farmers Insurance Company of Washington, 23 P.3d 

552, 106 Wn.App. 430 (2001); see also, County Mutual Insurance 
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Company v. McCauley, 974 P.2d 128895 Wn.App. 305. As a 

result, they are strictly construed against the insurer and will not be 

extended beyond the clear and unequivocal meaning. Firemans's 

Fund Ins. Co. v. Puget Sound Escrow Closers, Inc., 96 Wn.App. 

227,979 P.2d 872 (1999); Brown v. Snohomish County Physicians 

Corp., 822 P.2d 336,63 Wn.App. 788 (1992), reversed on other 

grounds; 120 Wn.2d 747. 

In this case, Regence has failed to provide any 

documentation in response to discovery concerning the mechanical 

embolectomy. Regence has failed to identify any witness who will 

testify concerning the alleged investigational nature of the 

mechanical embolectomy procedure. In short, there was a 

complete failure of evidence on the part of Regence concerning its 

denial of Mr. Pleasant's mechanical embolectomy procedure. 

Moreover, because Regence bears the burden of proof in 

establishing the investigational status of the mechanical 

embolectomy procedure, Regence was required to come forward 

with specific evidence factually establishing the investigational 

status of the mechanical embolectomy procedure. Such evidence 

would in and of itself create a genuine issue of material fact 

regarding the investigational nature of the procedure. 
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D. The "In-Patient" Limit is Not Applicable for Other 
Treatment. 

The basic exclusionary clause relied upon by Regence only 

limits coverage for rehabilitative care which is specifically for the 

purpose of receiving speech, physical, or occupational therapy: 

SECTION 1.14 

INPATIENT REHABILITATION ADMISSION: An 
inpatient admission to a Company approved 
facility specifically for the purpose of receiving 
speech, physical, or occupational therapy in an 
inpatient setting. 

See, CP 36, § 1.14. 

Thus, the exclusionary clause only applies if a patient is 

admitted specifically for rehabilitative services and only limits 

coverage to specific rehabilitative care, not other non-rehabilitative 

care services. 

8.29.1 INPATIENT. The Professional, 
Inpatient Hospital, and Skilled Nursing 
Facility Benefits of this Article will be 
provided to an Inpatient for an Inpatient 
Rehabilitation Admission for physical 
therapy, speech therapy, and 
occupational therapy, to a maximum of 
$4,000 per Year. 

CP 87, §8.29 and §8.29.1. 
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Section 8.7.1, provides coverage when the insured is 

confined in a hospital. In this particular case, Mr. Pleasant received 

care at the Swedish Medical Center which by any definition is a 

hospital. CP 502-520. 

1. Coverage is available under the Regence Policy 
for all non-rehabilitative care that Mr. Pleasant 
received while at Swedish. 

The Pleasants assert that coverage is available for all non

rehabilitative care that Mr. Pleasant received at the Swedish 

Medical Center regardless of where he was located within the 

hospital, i.e., medication expenses, x-ray expenses, lab work 

expenses, changing of his heart filter, etc. CP 559. While there is 

no controlling case law in the State of Washington, other 

jurisdictions have addressed this exact issue. 

In the decision of National Family Care Life Ins. Co. v. 

Kuykandall, 705 SW 2d 267 (1986), the court held: 

The contract clearly evinces an intent to 
cover the care that appellee received, 
regardless of the label given to the part 
of the hospital where he received the 
care. 

* * * 

Distinguishing the two units on the basis 
of label while defining only one and not 
the other is like comparing apples to 
oranges and creates an ambiguity to be 
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construed most strongly against the 
insurer. 

CP 18; Appendix D. 

The Kuykandall decision involved a nearly identical attempt 

by an insurer to deny coverage following a pulmonary embolus 

(stroke). In that case, the patient was moved from one side of the 

hospital to the other. This is directly analogous to moving Mr. 

Pleasant from one floor to the other. CP 18. 

Another case, Dobias v. Service Life Insurance Company of 

Omaha, 469 N.W.2d 143 (1991), is also analogous to the instant 

matter. CP 18; Appendix E. The facts of Dobias involved a 

patient's move from one floor of the hospital to another. The 

insurer claimed that coverage was available while the patient was 

on one floor of the hospital but not on another. The Court flatly 

rejected this contention. The Dobias court held: 

Any rehabilitative care which she 
received at Immanuel was incid.ental to 
the acute hospital care necessary to 
avoid the life-threatening complications 
she faced as a result of a spinal cord 
injury and paralysis. 

* * * 

A hospital by any other name, still 
provides acute medical care, and Pam 
received acute medical care at 
Immanuel. 

21 



CP at 18; Appx. E at 124,~3. 

The Dobias court held that the insured was entitled to 

coverage under the policy of insurance. 

At best and in the absence of any controlling Washington 

authority, the Regence policy provisions would be ambiguous and 

subject to reasonable interpretations. Plaintiffs presented two 

reasonable interpretations of the subject provisions thereby 

affirmatively establishing an ambiguity in the policy language. 

2. Regence denied coverage for medications for 
which no exclusionary clause or language exists. 

Regence has denied coverage for certain items which are 

covered under the policy of insurance for which there is no 

exclusionary or limiting language. CP 18. For example, Regence 

has denied all coverage for all medications received by Mr. 

Pleasant during his second hospitalization. 

However, paragraph 6.1 .11 of the Policy specifically 

provides coverage for drugs for the in-patient unless otherwise 

excluded under the contract: 

ARTICLE 6 LIMITATIONS AND 
EXCLUSIONS; WAITING PERIODS. 

6.1.11 Drugs, except as follows: 

a. Drugs will be provided for the Inpatient 
who is receiving the Benefits of this 
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Contract for that confinement, unless 
otherwise excluded under this Contract. 

CP 64-65. 

The policy contains no pertinent exclusionary language. 

Regence has never articulated the exclusionary language which 

precludes Mr. Pleasant from receiving coverage for medications 

while hospitalized. CP 18-19. 

Pursuant to the plain language of the policy, Mr. Pleasant is 

entitled to coverage for all in patient benefits. At section 8.7.1, the 

Policy specifically provides benefits for the services and supplies 

provided by the hospital. Unquestionably, there were services and 

supplies provided by the hospital for which Mr. Pleasant is entitled 

to coverage. The same holds true for virtually every other expense 

incurred by Mr. Pleasant. As such, the trial court erred in denying 

the Pleasants summary judgment on the issue of coverage. 

3. Mr. Pleasant's geographic location within · 
Swedish Hospital does not dictate coverage. 

Regence has taken the untenable position that the mere fact 

that Mr. Pleasant was on a different floor of the exact same hospital 

that the policy somehow excludes coverage for procedures which 

are clearly not rehabilitative services. CP 130: 1-6 and 133-137. 

The only authority offered by Regence was an unpublished 

Nebraska decision which is not controlling law even in Nebraska, 

let alone Washington. 
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Dr. Clawson testified that Mr. Pleasant "received certain 

treatment which was medically necessary regardless of the 

setting in which he received the treatment." CP 125, 1f5 (emphasis 

added). Such treatments are covered under the Regence Policy. 

In advancing its argument, Regence requests this Court to 

infer policy language by concluding that ANY medications, x-rays, 

surgical procedures, tests, etc., an insured person receives while 

also receiving rehabilitation is not covered. CP 561 . 

Washington Courts have held that: "we will not add language 

to the policy that the insurer did not include." Fluke Corp. v. 

Hartford Accident, 102 Wn.App. 237, 7 P.2d 825 (2000) citing 

American National Fire Insurance Company v. V&L Trucking and 

Construction Co., 134 Wn.2d 413, 430, 951 P.2d 250 (1998). 

In fact, nowhere in the Regence policy is treatment or 

services an insured may receive limited just because the insured is 

on a different floor of the same hospital. CP 561. As a result, the 

only fair and sensible reading of the Regence policy is that the 

policy limits only rehabilitative care to $4,000.00. Id. 

Regence cites to a Pennsylvania District Court, Taylor v. 

Phoenix Mutual Life Ins. Co., 453 F.Supp. 372 (Penn. 1978). CP 

561-562; Appendix F. Taylor fails to address the issues raised in 

the case at bar. The sole issue in Taylor was whether or not the 

treatment the insured received was at a hospital as defined by the 
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policy of insurance; specifically, whether or not Moss Rehabilitation 

Hospital was a hospital. Appx. F at 575, 1f1. In Tay/or, the policy 

at issue "expressly lists eight criteria which an institution must 

satisfy to qualify as a "hospital" and thus qualify for policy

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