I.

INTRODUCTION 

Appellant Bruce Pleasant received all of the benefits to which he 

was entitled under his health care contract with Regence BlueShield, and 

the trial court properly rejected his arguments to expand the scope of that 

coverage. 

First, Pleasant's health care plan excludes coverage for 

investigational services. In accordance with medical literature and the 

recommendations of the American Heart Association and numerous other 

national organizations, Regence Medical Policy classifies mechanical 

embolectomy as an investigational procedure when used in the treatment 

of acute stroke. Regence adopted its Medical Policy on mechanical 

embolectomy after a thorough review of the medical literature and 

discussion with members of the medical community. That policy is 

consistent with the consensus in the medical community that mechanical 

embolectomy is not proved to be safe or effective. Washington law 

permits health carriers to exclude coverage for services they deem to be 

investigational, and the trial court properly ruled that Bruce Pleasant is not 

entitled to coverage under his health care plan for the $415 charge for 

mechanical embolectomy. 
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The trial court also correctly enforced the plan's $4,000 benefit 

limit for an inpatient rehabilitation admission. The undisputed evidence 

established that two months after his stroke, Bruce Pleasant was admitted 

to the Rehabilitation Unit of Swedish Cherry Hill specifically for the 

purpose of receiving rehabilitative care, and his admission, therefore, was 

properly paid under the benefit limit of $4,000. 

The undisputed evidence also showed that Regence fully and 

timely communicated with Pleasant both before and after the services 

were rendered. In the absence of any evidence to support Pleasant's 

allegations of bad faith, the trial court properly dismissed the extra-

contractual claims. 

The trial court's rulings were correct and should be affirmed. 

II. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Health Care Plan. 

At times material to this case, Bruce Pleasant subscribed to an 

individual health care planl with Regence. CP 155-226. Services are 

1 Individual coverage is health coverage that a person selects and buys directly from a 
health carrier as opposed to group coverage, which is generally purchased by an 
employer on the group's behalf. CP 227-28. 
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covered under the plan if they are "Medically Necessary,,,2 identified as a 

covered service, and not excluded. CP 197, 206. 

Services identified as covered include professional, inpatient 

hospital, and inpatient skilled nursing facility, described as follows: 

SECTION 8.6 

SECTION 8.7 

PROFESSIONAL. The services of a 
provider who is not a facility that 
provides Inpatient services, will be 
provided for the diagnosis and treatment 
of illness, accidental injury, or physical 
disability .... 

HOSPITAL FACILITY. 

8.7.1 INPATIENT BENEFITS. 
When the member is confined as an 
Inpatient,3 Benefits will be provided for 
services and supplies provided by a 
Hospital .... 

* * * 

SECTION 8.30 SKILLED NURSING FACILITY. 
Inpatient services and supplies by a 
skilled nursing facility will be provided 
for illness, accidental injury, or physical 
disability, limited to 30 days per year .... 

CP 209, 221 (emphasis supplied for defined terms). 

2 See CP 209, ~ 8.5 ("All services and supplies must be Medically Necessary as defined 
in Article 1, except as provided in this Article for preventive care services."). "Medically 
necessary" services are those provided "for the purpose of preventing, evaluating, 
diagnosing or treating an illness, injury, disease or its symptoms." CP 170. 
3 An "Inpatient" is defined as: "A person confined to overnight in a Hospital or other 
facility as a regularly admitted bed patient to whom a charge for room and board is made 
in accordance with the Hospital's or facility's standard practice." CP 168, ~ 1.13. 
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However, the plan excludes coverage for "Investigational Services 

or Supplies, as defined in Article 1." CP 199, ,-r 6.1.17. "Investigational 

Services or Supplies" are services or supplies that are classified as such 

either by the national Blue Cross Blue Shield Association or by Regence, 

using five specifically identified criteria: 

SECTION 1.15 INVESTIGATIONAL SERVICE OR SUPPLY. 

1.15.1 

A service or supply ... that is determined by the 
Company to meet anyone of the following: 

Any service or supply classified as 
experimental and/or investigational by 
the national Blue Cross Blue Shield 
Association ... as adopted by the 
Company. The national Blue Cross Blue 
Shield Association's determination IS 

based on the following criteria: 

a. The scientific evidence must permit 
conclusions concerning the effect of the 
technology on health outcomes (which 
means significant measurable 
improvement in length of life, ability to 
function, or quality of life); 

b. The technology must improve the net 
health outcome (as defined above); 

c. The technology must be as beneficial as 
any established alternatives; 

d. The improvement must be attainable 
outside the laboratory or clinical 
research setting; and 

e. Items must have been approved by the 
U.S. Food and Drug Administration 

4 



1.15.2 

CP 169. 

(FDA) as being safe and efficacious for 
general marketing, and permission must 
have been granted by the FDA for 
commercial distribution; or 

Any service or supply classified as 
experimental or investigational by the 
Company. The Company's 
determination is based on the criteria 
specified under Paragraph 1.15.1 .... 

In addition, the plan excludes "[t]reatment for rehabilitative care, 

including speech therapy, physical therapy, or occupational therapy, 

except as specified in the Home Health, Hospice, and Rehabilitation 

Benefits of Article 8." CP 200, ,-r 6.1.34 (emphasis added). 

Article 8 provides limited coverage for an inpatient rehabilitation 

admission as follows: 

SECTION 8.29 REHABILITATION. The Benefits 

8.29.1 

described below will be provided when 
Medically Necessary to restore and 
improve function that was previously 
normal but lost following a documented 
injury or illness: 

INPATIENT. The Professional, 
Inpatient Hospital, and Skilled Nursing 
Facility Benefits of this Article will be 
provided to an Inpatient for an Inpatient 
Rehabilitation Admission for physical 
therapy, speech therapy, and 
occupational therapy, to a maximum of 
$4,000 per Year. 
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CP 220. 

An "Inpatient Rehabilitation Admission" is defined as: "An 

inpatient admission to a Company approved facility specifically for the 

purpose of receiving speech, physical, or occupational therapy in an 

inpatient setting." CP 169, ~ 1.14. 

B. Pleasant's Medical History. 

1. Inpatient Hospital Admission to Swedish Medical 
Center (3/18/10 to 415/10). 

On March 18, 2010, while or shortly after undergoing knee 

surgery, Bruce Pleasant suffered a stroke, for which he received extensive 

medical care. He was admitted to Swedish Medical Center as a regularly 

admitted patient, where he received inpatient medical care for 

approximately three weeks to stabilize his condition. CP 229-30. 

During Pleasant's hospitalization, Pleasant and his family